A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR  

1.  The trial court erred in denying the CrR 3.6 motion to suppress 

evidence. 

2.  To the extent they contain findings of fact, the court erred in 

entering Conclusions of Law Nos. 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 regarding the CrR 3.6 

suppression hearing.  CP 206–07. 

3.  The trial court erred in making a factual finding that the 

defendant is a criminal street gang member or associate as defined by 

RCW 9.94A.030(16). 

4.  The trial court erred in imposing community custody of 12 

months for the conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm. 

5.  The record does not support the findings that Mr. Duncan has 

the current or future ability to pay LFOs and the means to pay costs of 

incarceration and medical care. 

 Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

 

1.  Whether the stop of Mr. Duncan’s vehicle was unjustified at its 

inception as an improper Terry stop, where there was no reasonable and 

articulable suspicion of criminal conduct and the intrusion was not 

supported by probable cause?
1
 

                                                 
1
 Assignment of Error 1 and 2. 
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2.  Whether a police officer’s warrantless search of a car violates 

article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution when performed 

“incident to the arrest” of a person who is secured and unable to access a 

weapon or destroy evidence.
2
 

3. Whether a sentencing court lacks statutory authority to impose a 

sentence of community custody for unlawful possession of a firearm where 

the state did not plead and the jury did not find by special verdict that the 

defendant was a criminal street gang member or associate during the 

commission of the crime?
3
 

4.  Whether the findings that Mr. Duncan has the current or future 

ability to pay LFOs and the means to pay costs of incarceration and 

medical care must be stricken from the Judgment and Sentence as clearly 

erroneous, where they are not supported in the record?
4
 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Police Officer Jeff Ely responded to a report of “shots fired” in the 

City of Yakima, Washington.  3 RP
5
 357–58.  The officer followed and  

                                                 
2
 Assignment of Error 1 and 2. 

3
 Assignment of Error 3 and 4. 

4
 Assignment of Error 5. 

5
 The main proceedings are contained in seven volumes and will be referred to by volume 

number and page, e.g. “3 RP ___”.  Any reference to the presentation hearing regarding 

findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 motions to 

suppress will be referred to by its date, e.g. “2/8/12 RP ___”. 
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eventually stopped a white car driving eastbound matching the report 

description of a “white Subaru or Impala car” last seen heading 

northbound, which was being driven by the defendant, Chad Edward 

Duncan.  3 RP 362–68, 391. 

CrR 3.6 suppression motion.   Prior to trial, defense counsel filed a 

CrR 3.6 motion to suppress, contending that the stop and investigative 

search were unlawful.  CP 6–16, 27–29.  In part, police testified at the 

suppression hearing as follows. 

Officer Ely was dispatched shortly before 1:00 a.m. to a report of 

“shots fired” with confirmation of a victim with a gunshot wound to the 

head, and given a vehicle description of a white Subara or Impala car 

headed northbound on 5
th

 Avenue.  1 RP 65–66.  The address was in west 

central Yakima, an area known to police as associated with the Sureño 

gang whose members claim the color blue.  1 RP 66–67, 3 RP 359.  One 

of two ways to drive east from the address, in order to cross the railroad 

tracks that intersect the city of Yakima, would be to drive north and then 

turn eastbound on “I” Street.  1 RP 67; CP 202–03 at ¶2.  Officer Ely, 

speculating the rival Norteño gang was probably responsible and would be 

fleeing to the east side of town, headed toward “I” Street.  1 RP 67.  There 

was very little traffic at that time of the morning.  Within 30 seconds to a 
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couple of minutes after the initial call, the officer saw a white car headed 

eastbound on “I” Street, just at the railroad tracks.  1 RP 68, 70.  

While following the car over the railroad tracks, Officer Ely saw 

two passengers in the car and the driver was wearing a red hat, which he 

knew to be a color claimed by members of the Norteño group.  1 RP 69.  

The officer called for backup units and activated his red and blue overhead 

lights.  1 RP 68–69.  He then received information that there were possibly 

two females in the suspect car.  1 RP 71.  The white car pulled over to the 

side of the road immediately and stopped.  1 RP 69–70.  At least three 

other officers had arrived.  1 RP 70.  There were two females in the 

stopped car, and Officer Ely was “pretty sure at that point we had the right 

vehicle stopped.”  1 RP 71. 

The officers initiated a “high risk stop”, calling the occupants 

out—at gunpoint— one at a time, having them walking backwards toward 

police and pull up their shirts and turn full circle so ensure there were no 

weapons in their waistbands, and lie in a prone position on the ground.  

All three of the occupants were frisked, handcuffed and placed in separate 

patrol cars.  1 RP 71–72, 91–92. 

The officers then “cleared the vehicle” or “did a protective sweep” 

to make sure there were no other occupants hiding in the vehicle.  They 
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made a verbal announcement, approached the car, visually cleared the 

interior of the car at gunpoint, and popped open the trunk looking for 

someone hiding in it.  1 RP 71, 81–82, 93.  Officer Scherzinger testified 

that while he had never found people hiding in a trunk, it was a possibility.  

1 RP 95.  While clearing the car, Officer Ely saw (either from outside the 

car or when opening the passenger door) aluminum shell casings all over 

the floorboard and the seat from what appeared to be a small caliber 

handgun.  1 RP 71; CP 203 at ¶11.  Officer Scherzinger similarly saw 

spent shell casings inside the car.  1 RP 93; CP 203 at ¶11.   

The record is a little unclear as to why the interior of the car was 

“cleared”.  Officer Scherzinger testified it was to locate anything that 

could be “used against us” in the event the vehicle had to be released back 

to its occupants.  1 RP 94.  Officer Ely testified the three occupants were 

transported to be interviewed at the station because “we had the shell 

casings, … the two females in the car that fit the description, … [and] the 

driver where the shell casings were located at his feet with the red hat”, 

and they did a frisk of the car’s interior and trunk to ensure they would not 

be sending the car off for towing with a handgun inside that could possibly 

discharge.  1 RP 72; CP 203 at ¶12.  The gun was found by the front 

passenger seat, between the door and the seat.  1 RP 72, 97. 
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The trial court denied the defense motion to suppress physical and 

testimonial evidence, and entered written findings of fact and conclusions 

of law.  1 RP 115–124; CP 202–08. 

Trial testimony.  At trial, Officer Jeff Ely testified pretty much as 

he had during the suppression motion.  3 RP 357–87.     

Yakima Police Officer Tarin Miller testified the area the victims’ 

house is located in is known for gang activity, but there were no gang-

related problems with the house prior to this incident.  4 RP 406, 452.  

Officer Miller had no knowledge of any gang-related involvement 

regarding Mr. Duncan prior to this time.  4 RP 406.    

No latent prints were found on the handgun.  4 RP 460–73.  Profile 

evidence on the firearm showed Mr. Duncan matched as one major 

contributor, with the probability of finding an unrelated individual to 

match the profile in the U.S. population as one in 5.3 trillion people.  5 RP 

605–06.  Six of the spent shell casings that were found came from this 

gun.  5 RP 614–21. 

Jaime Butler and Alexis Brock were the two passengers in Mr. 

Duncan’s car.  5 RP 624–56; 6 RP 733–42, 751–57.   

Kyle Mullins was in the living room when he noticed he was 

bleeding from his head.  A visitor from Ritzville, he didn’t know who had 
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shot him and didn’t know Jaime Butler, Alexis Brock or Mr. Duncan.  He 

had never been a gang member.  4 RP 557, 559, 561–62. 

Derrick Rivera said a dark curtain covered the front living room 

window at the time of the shooting, but the front door may have been 

open.  4 RP 480–81.  He heard several shots and the curtains moved when 

bullets came through, with one bullet going through the baseball hat he 

was wearing.  4 RP 482–83.  Rivera didn’t recognize anybody in the 

courtroom as involved in the shooting, and stated none of the people in the 

house were gang members.  4 RP 485–86, 490.  Although he knew their 

names but did not meet them until after the shooting, Rivera was aware 

that Jaimee Butler and Alexis Brock had fought his brother David 

Riviera’s girlfriend, Anna, at a nearby park a few days before this incident.  

4 RP 491, 493–94.  He’d seen Butler and Brock hang out with North side 

gang members, and at dance clubs with people who wore the red colors.  4 

RP 492–93. 

Margie Collins lived at the house with her children, Manuel Villa, 

Amanda Villa and Derrick Riviera, and her son David Riviera did not live 

there.  4 RP 496.  She and her mother Sherrie Ratliff were awakened from 

sleeping by the shots, and ran into the front room.  4 RP 498, 553–54.  

Four or five bullets had ruined the front windows, which were covered by 
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a big bedspread.  4 RP 501–02.  Collins stated nobody in the house at the 

time of the incident were gang members.  4 RP 504–05.   

Geraldo Villalobos was also in the home when a bullet came 

within 12 to 18 inches of him as he was getting up from a chair.  4 RP 

509–12.  He knew Butler and Brock because ”my family’s both sides, so I 

was friends with most everybody from both gangs.”  4 RP 515.  He said 

none of the people at the house were gang members, and he did not know 

Mr. Duncan.  4 RP 516–17. 

Manual Villa, who was also in the house, heard shots and saw his 

friend Kyle bleeding from his head wound.  4 RP 525, 531–32.  He also 

said no one in the house was involved with gang activity.  4 RP 533.  

The jury found Mr. Duncan guilty as charged of six counts of first 

degree assault, with special verdicts on each count that he was armed with 

a firearm during the commission of the crimes.  He was also found guilty 

of unlawful possession of a firearm.  7 RP 971–73.  The court imposed 

consecutive
6
 high standard range sentences on counts 1 through 7, for a 

total base sentence of 799 months.  Together with the mandatory 

consecutive 60-months enhancement on counts 1 through 6, the total term 

of confinement is 1,159 months.  CP 178–79.  The court imposed terms of 

                                                 
6
 See RCW 9.94A.030(34) and 9.94A.589(1)(b). 
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community custody of 36 months on the assault convictions.  Based on a 

finding by the court that “The defendant is a criminal street gang member 

or associate as defined by RCW 9.94A.030(16), the court also imposed a 

term of community custody of 12 months on the unlawful possession of a 

firearm conviction.  CP 178, 180. 

As a condition of sentence, the court made the following findings: 

¶2.7 Financial Ability: The Court has considered the total amount 

owing, the defendant's past, present, and future ability to pay legal 

financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources 

and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change.  The 

Court finds that the defendant has the present ability or likely 

future ability to pay the financial obligations imposed herein.  

RCW 9.94A.753. 

 

CP 179. 

 

¶4.D.4. Costs of Incarceration: In addition to the above costs, the 

court finds that the defendant has the means to pay for the costs of 

incarceration, in prison at a rate of $50.00 per day of incarceration 

or in the Yakima County Jail at the actual rate of incarceration but 

not to exceed $100.00 per day of incarceration (the rate in 2011 is 

$79.75 per day), and orders the defendant to pay such costs at the 

statutory rate as assessed by the Clerk.  Such costs are payable only 

after restitution costs, assessments and fines listed above are paid.  

RCW 9.94A.760(2). 

 

¶ 4.D.5 Costs of Medical Care: In addition to the above costs, the 

court finds that the defendant has the means to pay for any costs of 

medical care incurred by Yakima County on behalf of the 

defendant, and orders the defendant to pay such medical costs as 

assessed by the Clerk.  Such costs are payable only after restitution 

costs, assessments and fines listed above are paid.   RCW 

70.48.130. 
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CP 181.  This appeal followed.  CP 186. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1.  The stop of Mr. Duncan’s car was not justified at its 

inception as a Terry stop because there was no reasonable and 

articulable suspicion of criminal conduct and the intrusion was not 

supported by probable cause. 

Standard of review.  A trial court's denial of a suppression motion 

is reviewed by examining whether substantial evidence supports the 

challenged findings and whether those findings support the trial court's 

conclusions of law.  State v. Ross, 145 Wn.2d 1016, 41 P.3d 483 (2002).  

Substantial evidence is that sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of 

the truth of the declared premises. State v. Jeannotte, 133 Wn.2d 847, 856, 

947 P.2d 1192 (1997).  This Court reviews the trial court’s conclusions of 

law de novo.  State v. Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363 

(1997). 

Applicable law.  The core of the constitutional protections 

provided by the Fourth Amendment and Const. article I, section 7 is the 

right of the individual to be protected against unreasonable searches and 

seizures.  State v. Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, 736, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984).  

“As a general rule, warrantless searches and seizures are per se 
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unreasonable.”  Williams, 102 Wn.2d at 736 (citing Coolidge v. New 

Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 29 L.Ed.2d 564 (1971)).  One 

exception to the warrant requirement is an investigative stop pursuant to 

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).  Under 

the Terry exception, police may conduct a brief warrantless investigatory 

stop of an individual where the officer has a well-founded suspicion of 

criminal activity based on specific and articulable facts.  State v. White, 97 

Wn.2d 92, 105, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982).  The Washington State Supreme 

court has defined “articulable suspicion” as “a substantial possibility that 

criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur.”  State v. Kennedy, 

107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986) (citing 3 WAYNE R. LAFAVE, 

SEARCH AND SEIZURE §9.2, at 65 (1978)).  A brief Terry stop can be 

justified if the officer can “point to specific and articulable facts which, 

taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably 

warrant that intrusion.  Terry, 392 U.S. at 21; White, 97 Wn.2d at 105.  

Although less intrusive than an arrest, a Terry stop must nevertheless be 

reasonable.  Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 4.  To justify a seizure on less than 

probable cause, the officers’ suspicion must be based on specific, objective 

facts indicating that a particular person has or is about to commit a crime.  

Terry, 392 U.S. at 21; State v. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 166, 172, 43 P.3d 513 
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(2002); Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 6.  Even for a brief detention the officer 

must have more than innocuous facts or a mere hunch.  State v. O’Cain, 

108 Wn. App. 542, 549, 31 P.3d 733 (2001). 

Whether police conduct falls within the scope of a Terry stop or 

whether the contact rises to the level of an arrest depends on the facts of 

each case.  The use of felony stop procedures with drawn guns can turn an 

investigative stop into an arrest.  State v. Belieu, 112 Wn.2d 587, 598–

600, 773 P.2d 46 (1989).  The admissibility of the evidence turns on 

whether the State can prove that the police dispatch was based on a 

sufficient factual foundation to support the kind of seizure at issue—

probable cause in the event of an arrest, or well-founded suspicion based 

on articulable facts in the event of an investigative stop.  O’Cain, 108 Wn. 

App. at 545.  Officers who act on the basis of the dispatch are not required 

to have personal knowledge of the factual foundation, and are not expected 

to cross-examine the dispatcher about the foundation for the transmitted 

information before acting upon it.  Rather, the collective knowledge of law 

enforcement agencies giving rise to the police dispatch will be imputed to 

the officers who act on it.  Id.  “ ‘]I]f we impute to the arresting officer the 

collective knowledge of law enforcement agencies for the purpose of  
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establishing probable cause, we must also charge him with knowledge of 

information exonerating a suspect … .’”  Id. at 543 (quoting People 

v.Ramirez, 34 Cal.3d 541, 668 P.2d 761, 764–65, 194 Cal. Rptr. 454 

(1983)).  The good faith of the officers executing the seizure does not 

relieve the State of its burden to prove that there was a factual basis for the 

stop–probable cause in the event or an arrest, and reasonable suspicion in 

the event of a Terry stop.  O’Cain, 108 Wn. App. at 553. 

 In evaluating investigative stops, the court must make several 

inquiries: (1) Was the initial interference with the suspect's freedom of 

movement justified at its inception? (2) Was it reasonably related in scope 

to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place?  

State v. Tijerina, 61 Wn. App 626, 629, 811 P.2d 241 (1991) (citing Terry 

v. Ohio, supra); Williams, 102 Wn.2d at 739. 

As to this second inquiry—the scope and intensity of the 

intrusion—the Williams Court enunciated three relevant factors to be 

considered in determining whether an intrusion on a suspect's liberty is 

permissible under Terry or instead must be supported by probable cause: 

(1) the purpose of the stop, (2) the amount of physical intrusion upon the 

suspect's liberty, and (3) the length of time the suspect is detained.  

Further, the degree of intrusion must also be appropriate to the type of 
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crime under investigation and to the probable dangerousness of the 

suspect.  Williams, 102 Wn.2d at 740.  The Williams Court recognized 

that under Terry, the United States Supreme Court has generally approved 

pat-down searches for weapons and brief on-the-spot questioning, but 

disapproved of more intensive seizures without consent.  “For instance, in 

Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200, 60 L.Ed.2d 824, 99 S.Ct. 2248 

(1979), the Court held that the police had illegally seized a murder suspect 

when, after getting a ‘lead’ from a police informant, they brought him to 

the station for questioning.  In finding that the subsequent interrogation of 

the defendant was illegal, the Court rejected a balancing analysis and 

concluded that ‘detention for custodial interrogation—regardless of its 

label—intrudes so severely on interests protected by the Fourth 

Amendment as necessarily to trigger the traditional safeguards against 

illegal arrest.’”  Williams, 102 Wn.2d at 737 (citing Dunway, 442 U.S. at 

216, 99 S.Ct. at 2258)).   

In Williams, the court reversed the conviction of a man who had 

been detained and handcuffed while leaving the immediate area of a silent 

alarm.  The Court was offended by the officers’ detention, without 

questioning, of an individual while they collected possible evidence 

against him.  Unlike the normal purpose for an investigatory Terry stop, 
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the officers in Williams did not question the individual when he was first 

detained and handcuffed, or permit him to explain his presence in the area.  

The Court ruled that the scope of the stop thus exceeded that permitted for 

a brief Terry stop encounter and thus it would have to be justified by 

probable cause to support an arrest.  Because the officers did not have 

probable cause to support this arrest, the evidence recovered was 

suppressed.  Williams, 102 Wn.2d at 742.  

 Argument.  In this case, the police simply observed a white car 

and conducted a stop and effective arrest of the defendant and each of the 

vehicle occupants at gunpoint. The “facts” preceding the stop did not 

support a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity by Mr. Duncan.   

The trial court concluded the officer had a reasonable articulable 

suspicion that Mr. Duncan was involved in a very serious crime: he was in 

the right area at the right time, he was driving a white car that matched the 

suspect car description of being a white car, he was wearing a red hat in a 

neighborhood occupied by a gang that claimed the color blue, and the two 

females in his car matched [later-obtained] information that there were two 

females in the suspect car.  CP 206 at ¶3.                                       

 Officer Ely was responding to a report of “shots fired” and given 

a minimal description of a “white car” headed northbound away from the 
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scene.  Officer Ely had a hunch this could be a gang-related retaliatory 

drive-by shooting.  Simply being in a high crime area or one known for

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