FILED Dec 04, 2012 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 29916-3-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

CHAD EDWARD DUNCAN,

Appellant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JAMES P. HAGARTY Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

Officer Ely was justified in relying upon the dispatch report considering the information informed a drive by shooting with the head wound to the victim and was generalized with regard to the vehicle description and it did not name any particular person like the facts in Randall, supra, making the information reliable. Additionally, shortly after report was received by police dispatch, other officers verified the information that was received. State v. Snapp, ___ Wn.2d.___, 275 P.3d 289 (2012);

We next turn to additional issues raised by Mr. Wright. Mr. Wright first claims that Officer Gregorio did not have either probable cause or a reasonable suspicion justifying the stop of his vehicle. Insofar as he contends that probable cause is necessary, it is the wrong standard. A valid Terry investigative stop is permissible if the officer can "point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rationale inferences from those facts, reasonably warrants the intrusion." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968); see State v. Doughty, 170 Wash.2d 57, 62, 239 P.3d 573 (2010) (" [a] Terry stop requires a well-founded suspicion that the defendant engaged in criminal conduct"). A reasonable, articulable suspicion means that there " is a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur." State v. Kennedy, 107 Wash.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). Terry 's rationale applies to traffic infractions. State v. Johnson, 128 Wash.2d 431, 454, 909 P.2d 293 (1996). In reviewing the propriety of a Terry stop, a court evaluates the totality of the circumstances. Doughty, 170 Wash.2d at 62, 239 P.3d 573; State v. Glover, 116 Wash.2d 509, 514, 806 P.2d 760 (1991).

It is inconceivable that our Supreme court would uphold a stop based on a simple traffic infraction and yet it would not uphold the stop in this case based on the facts set forth in the CrR 3.6 hearing and as

memorialized by the trial court both in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as well as the oral ruling discussed herein.

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION TWO – THE SEIZURE OF THE GUN DID NOT ARISE FROM AN ILLEGAL SEARCH.

State v. Snapp, ___Wn.2d ____, 275 P.3d 289 (2012) is the law of this State; but Snapp did not vitiate other theories with regard to search. For lack of a better phrase Snapp, Ringer, and most of the cases were Snapp has subsequently been applied were "routine traffic stop" situations. See also, State v. Ringer, 100 Wn.2d 686, 674 P.2d 1240 (1983), State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 761, 224 P.3d 751 (2009; State v. Patton, 167 Wn.2d 379, 219 P.3d 651 (2009) (Patton stated with an attempt to arrest Patton on an outstanding warrant, there was nothing exigent regarding the automobile in question.)

This case is factually distinguishable from all of these cases to an extent that Snapp is truly inapplicable.

This was an emergent situation involving officers responding to a drive-by-shooting which literally had just occurred. They had confirmed that there was a person who had been shot in the head and they had a description of the vehicle involved, the direction of travel of that vehicle and the number of occupants. This information was bolstered by the gang affiliation of the neighborhood and the apparent direction this vehicle was

16

going in its flight from the scene; the time of day and, the danger to the population with this armed person who has already demonstrate a total disregard for the lives and safety of the citizens.

The exigency of this case is factually distinguishable from the line of case such as Arizona v. Gant, U.S., S.Ct., 173
L.Ed.2d 485 (2009, and Snapp where there was a relatively minor criminal act that had occurred and as a "standard" search incident to that arrest the officer intruded into the passenger compartment of the car operated by the defendant.

Further, the actual observation of the bullets and the gun were done from the exterior of the car. Officer Ely stated that the door was open but he was outside the car when the bullets and the gun were observed. There had been a protective sweep of the car concurrent with this observation, there was not an actual search conducted. Snapp does not stand limit any officer from using this type of sweep to ensure officer safety and the safety of the public. It clearly disallows an actual search conducted for the simple purpose of collecting evidence or information.

Here the initial observation occurred as the officers were attempting to determine if there were other occupants hiding in this car, a car that was highly likely to have been used very recently in a drive-by shooting. Therefore the argument that the occupants could not reach the

contents while valid does not address what actions were actually occurring when the discovery of the shell casings and the gun were made. Once again this case is distinguishable from Snapp and Patton, et al purely and simply on the facts. This is not a case where Snapp is applicable. This was not a situation were the officers created some scenario that allowed then into the car. They had a legitimate basis to approach the car, and did so, with weapons drawn in a high risk stop fashion. This was not as stated above a "routine traffic stop."

The intrusion into the passenger compartment was not this type of "search" initially. The officers did not seize the shells; they only took possession of the weapon. They later took the vehicle to an impound lot, applied for and received a search warrant which has not been challenged here nor was it challenged at the trial court. When the weapon was seized it was done both for officer safety and for the safety of the public as testified to by Officer Ely. The Yakima Police Department would have been clearly negligent to leave that gun in a car, a car that was to be towed across town to an impound lot. The officers had no knowledge of this guns make-up or condition. As the officer testified he did not want any type of accidental discharge as the gun traveled behind the tow truck.

The search would also fall under the exigent circumstance exception, State v. Gibson, 219 P.3d 964, 970-71 (2009): "Washington

courts have long held that 'danger to [the] arresting officer or to the public' can constitute an exigent circumstance." "The need to protect or preserve life, avoid serious injury, or protect property in danger of damage justifies an entry that would otherwise be illegal absent an exigency or emergency." We look at the totality of the circumstances to determine whether exigent circumstances exist." (Citations omitted)

The officer observed the shell casing from a plain view setting and then seized the gun from a open view setting. He testified that the shell casings were clearly observable on the floor of the car, on the drives side, from "outside the car." He then stated that the gun was observable from a location outside the car.

While not argued by at the trial court level it is clear that both the "open view" and "plain view" exceptions are applicable here, it is equally well settled this court can affirm a lower court's decision on any basis adequately supported by the record. <u>In re Marriage of Rideout</u>, 150 Wn.2d 337, 358, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003)

The "open view" doctrine and the closely related "plain view" doctrine are exceptions to the general rule that warrantless searches are per se unreasonable. State v. Gibson, 152 Wash.App. 945, 954, 219 P.3d 964 (2009) (citing State v. Seagull, 95 Wash.2d 898, 632 P.2d 44 (1981)). The "open view" doctrine applies when an officer is present in a

constitutionally non-protected area. <u>Seagull</u>, 95 Wash.2d at 901-02, 632 P.2d 44 (citation omitted). In these constitutionally non-protected areas, "[t]he object under observation is not subject to any reasonable expectation of privacy and the observation is not within the scope of the constitution." <u>Seagull</u>, 95 Wash.2d at 902, 632 P.2d 44 (quoting <u>State v. Kaaheena</u>, 59 Hawai'i 23, 29, 575 P.2d 462 (1978)).

Duncan's vehicle was located in on the street during the stop, a constitutionally non-protected public area; the "open view" doctrine applies. Granted it was at that location because of the traffic stop but the officers did not enter the car to make the observations of the shells nor from what the record states the gun.

The record is not very clear as to the amount of actual intrusion into the interior of the car. The trial court stated the following;

And so the officers approached the vehicle to examine the interior to see if there were any passenger – anybody else in there. Officer Ely testified that he saw the spent casings in the vehicle from the outside, and he was on the driver's side of the vehicle -- that shows clearly in the video -- and the driver's side door was open. So he had a clear view from the outside of the vehicle in order to be able to see the casings.

However, it is also the position of the State that the "plain view" doctrine, also comes into play when the officer lawfully intruded into the interior of the car. The "plain view" doctrine comes into play if the officer

has lawfully intruded into a location where there otherwise is a reasonable expectation of privacy. State v. Seagull, 95 Wash.2d 898, 901, 632 P.2d 44 (1981)

See also <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 158 Wash.App. 602, 243 P.3d 165, 170-71 (2010);

Evidence discovered in "open view," as opposed to "plain view," is not the product of a "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. In the "plain view" situation, the view takes place after an intrusion into activities or areas as to which there is a reasonable expectation of privacy. The officer has already intruded and, if his intrusion is justified, the objects of obvious evidentiary value in plain view, sighted inadvertently, may be seized lawfully and will be admissible.

In contrast, in the "open view" situation, "the observation takes place from a non-intrusive vantage point. The governmental agent is either on the outside looking outside or on the outside looking inside to that which is knowingly exposed to the public." The object under observation is not subject to any reasonable expectation of privacy and the observation is not within the scope of the constitution. It is well established that a person has a diminished expectation of privacy in the visible contents of an automobile parked in a public place. (Citations omitted.)

Officer Ely:

A Well, we safely detained all the vehicle occupants by initiating a high-risk stop. And then we did a -- basically a clearance of the vehicle. We walked up to make sure there was no other occupants hiding in the vehicle. It's all standard practice when doing these type of stops. And while clearing the vehicle it was evident

there was aluminum shell casings all over the floorboard and the seat from what appeared to be a small caliber handgun.

Q Did you observe those from outside the vehicle? A From outside the vehicle.

...

...And after we've done that to all three occupants within the car, then we do a clearance of the car to make sure there's no others hiding inside. And that's when we observed the shell casings onthe floorboard. Q Once seeing those shell casings, what did you proceed to do, if anything?

A Uhm, at that point after we had the shell casings, we had the two females in the car that fit the description, we had the driver where the shell casings were located at his feet with the red hat, they were transported ported to the station where they were interviewed by other officers. Uhm, to make sure we weren't going to, you know, be transporting the car, towing a car with a handgun inside that could possibly discharge, we did a frisk of the vehicle's interior for weapons only to locate, uhm, a handgun of the front passenger seat between the door and the seat. That was safely cleared and placed in my vehicle.

(RP pg 71-3)

RESPONSE TO THIRD ALLEGATION.

Appellant is correct. This portion of the Judgment and Sentence should be struck. This court should remand this to the trial court with an order that can be executed without the necessity of bringing the defendant back from prison. This would appear to have been a scriveners error. It would appear that based on the associations that Duncan had this box was checked. There was no discussion regarding this on the record that the State could find. Subsection 2.2 Special Finding – fifth checked box

should not have been checked. A separate order can be entered with the Clerk of the Superior court indicating that the one portion of Section 2.2 was inappropriately marked.

RESPONSE TO FOURTH ALLEGATION.

Duncan challenges the imposition of his legal financial obligations. (LFO) Challenges to LFOs are not properly before this court if there is no evidence that the State has sought to enforce the LFOs. State v. Hathaway, 161 Wn.App. 634, 651, 251 P.3d 253 (2011); see also State v. Bunch, 168 Wn.App. 631, 633, 279 P.3d 432 (2012). In Hathaway, the defendant challenged a jury demand fee because it exceeded the statutory maximum. 161 Wn.App. at 651. In Hathaway the court held that the appeal was not properly before it because there was no evidence that the State had enforced the LFOs, citing State v. Smits, 152 Wn.App. 514, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009). Hathaway, 161 Wn.App. at 651. Reasoning that the question was purely legal and that justice would be better served, the Hathaway Court nonetheless exercised its discretion under RAP 1.2(c), waived the rules, and reviewed the LFO challenge. 161 Wn.App. at 651-52. Here, like in <u>Hathaway</u>, there is no evidence that the State has sought to enforce the LFO, so his challenges are not properly before this court on appeal as a matter of right.

This court has seen numerous challenges with regard to this

specific issue. The State has steadfastly argued if this court is going to review these allegations this court should return the question to the trial court for a hearing to allow the question to be determined in an orderly fashion. This case more so than most other cases demands that action from this court.

A review of the sentencing hearing by this court will demonstrate that there was no inquiry by the court of Duncan at the time of his sentencing not due to some oversight as is often the case but because of Duncan's unruly actions in the courtroom he was physically removed from the courtroom. In this specific instance Duncan created this error. Therefore it is the position of the State that State v. Bertrand, 165
Wn.App. 393, 405-6, 267 P.3d 511 (2011) is inapplicable. This "error" was self-induced and is comparable therefore to an invited error. This court should not countenance this type of behavior. If all defendants merely acted as Duncan did during sentencing there would never be any ability to enforce any of the matters set out in the Judgment and Sentence.

<u>In re Personal Restraint of Call</u>, 144 Wn.2d 315, 328, 28 P.3d 709 (2001);

The doctrine of invited error "prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal." This court has observed that the invited

error doctrine "appears to require affirmative actions by the defendant . . . [in which] the defendant took knowing and voluntary actions to set up the error; where the defendant's actions were not voluntary, the court did not apply the doctrine." (Footnotes omitted.)

State v. Wakefield, 130 Wn.2d 464, 475, 925 P.2d 183 (1996); The doctrine of invited error "prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal." The outburst by Appellant which forced the judge to have him removed from the courtroom was the very definition of knowing and voluntary. Duncan has five prior felony convictions. He knows the routine and he knew how to work the system to get a result. (CP 177-185)

Therefore the State would request that this portion of this appeal be remanded to the trial court for a sentencing hearing at which time a judge can inquire of Duncan as to his present and future ability to pay for the costs imposed.

IV. CONCLUSION

The facts of this case and the law of the State clearly support that thee was sufficient evidence to allow, at the least, a <u>Terry</u> stop of Duncan's car. It is the position of the State and was the position adopted by the trial court at the suppression hearing that there was probable cause to allow the stop. Thereafter the officers acted within the law when they

observed the shell casings as well as that gun and the seizure of the gun

was therefore valid.

The court did not have legal authority to impose the twelve month

term of community custody. This should be remanded to the trial court

with instructions that an order be entered amending the judgment and

sentence to strike that section.

This allegation is not ripe; this court should refuse to review it.

however if this court does accept review, the defendant by his actions

precluded the trial court from making the proper inquiry into his ability to

pay the costs set forth in the Judgment and Sentence therefore this should

be remanded for inquiry, not stricken as Duncan argues.